

Approved June 2, 1975.

CHAPTER 207—H.F.No.46

[Not Coded]

An act relating to the firemen's relief association of the city of Tyler; computation of years of service for volunteer firemen.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF MINNESOTA:

Section 1. TYLER, CITY OF; FIREMEN'S RELIEF ASSOCIATION. Notwithstanding any provisions of Minnesota Statutes, Section 69.06, or other law to the contrary, the Tyler firemen's relief association shall treat years of service by members of the Tyler volunteer fire department as years of membership in the Tyler firemen's relief association for purposes of determining eligibility for service pensions. This section shall apply only to those persons who became members of the association upon its formation and who continued as members until retirement.

Sec. 2. This act shall take effect upon its approval by the governing body of the city of Tyler and upon compliance with the provisions of Minnesota Statutes, Section 645.021.

Approved June 2, 1975.

CHAPTER 208—H.F.No.48

[Coded in Part]

An act relating to public welfare; providing a coordinated approach to the supervision, protection and habilitation of mentally retarded persons; amending Minnesota Statutes 1974, Sections 253A.02, Subdivision 5, and by adding a subdivision; 253A.04, Subdivisions 1 and 2; 253A.07, Subdivisions 17, 19, and 21; 253A.15, Subdivision 1; 256.93, Subdivisions 1 and 2; 259.24, Subdivision 1; and 517.03; repealing Minnesota Statutes 1974, Sections 253A.07, Subdivision 18; 253A.13; and 256.07.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF MINNESOTA:

Section 1. [252A.01] PUBLIC WELFARE; MENTALLY RETARDED; PROTECTION; POLICY AND CITATION. Subdivision 1. It is the policy of the state of Minnesota to provide a coordinated approach to the supervision, protection and habilitation of its mentally retarded citizens. In furtherance of this policy, sections 1 to 21 are enacted to authorize the commissioner of public welfare to supervise those mentally retarded citizens who are unable to fully provide for their own

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

needs and to protect such mentally retarded persons from violation of their human and civil rights by assuring that such individuals receive the full range of needed social, financial, residential and habilitative services to which they are lawfully entitled.

Subd. 2. Sections 1 to 21 may be cited as the "Minnesota mental retardation protection act."

Sec. 2. [252A.02] DEFINITIONS. Subdivision 1. For the purposes of sections 1 to 21 the terms defined in this section have the meanings given them.

Subd. 2. "Mentally retarded person" refers to any person who has been diagnosed as having significantly subaverage intellectual functioning existing concurrently with demonstrated deficits in adaptive behavior such as to require supervision and protection for his welfare or the public welfare.

Subd. 3. "Commissioner" means the commissioner of public welfare or his designees.

Subd. 4. "State institution" means a state school or hospital or other residential facility operated by the state of Minnesota or any other state.

Subd. 5. "Licensed physician" means a person licensed under the laws of Minnesota to practice medicine or a medical officer of the government of the United States while in Minnesota in performance of his official duties.

Subd. 6. "Near relative" means a parent, brother, sister or adult child.

Subd. 7. "Public guardian" means the commissioner of public welfare when exercising all the powers designated in section 11.

Subd. 8. "Public conservator" means the commissioner of public welfare when exercising some, but not all the powers designated in section 11.

Subd. 9. "Ward" means a mentally retarded person for whom the court has appointed a public guardian.

Subd. 10. "Conservatee" means a mentally retarded person for whom the court has appointed a public conservator.

Subd. 11. "Interested person" means an interested responsible adult, including, but not limited to, a public official, guardian, spouse, parent, legal counsel, adult child or next of kin of an allegedly mentally retarded person.

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

Subd. 12. "Comprehensive evaluation" shall consist of a diagnosis of a proposed ward's physical condition, prepared under the direction of a licensed physician, a report on the proposed ward's intellectual capacity and functional abilities, prepared by a psychologist who is qualified in the diagnosis and treatment of mental retardation, and a report on the proposed ward's social history and adjustment, prepared by a social worker who is experienced in working with mentally retarded persons. The psychologist's report shall specify the tests and other data used in reaching its conclusions. The social worker's report shall describe what educational, medical and social services have previously been made available to the person under review and shall specify the data used in reaching its conclusions. The reports of the psychologist and social worker shall contain recommendations as to the ability of the proposed ward to function in society without supervision.

Sec. 3. [252A.03] NOMINATION OF COMMISSIONER AS GUARDIAN OR CONSERVATOR. Subdivision 1. The commissioner may be nominated in a sworn written request by any one of the following to act as guardian or conservator for any mentally retarded person:

(a) An interested person;

(b) The guardian or conservator of the person of the mentally retarded person to act as his successor;

(c) The mentally retarded person.

Subd. 2. The commissioner shall accept or reject the nomination in writing within 15 days of the receipt of a comprehensive evaluation provided for in section 4. The commissioner's acceptance shall be binding upon him and his successors. Acceptance of a nomination shall confer no authority on the commissioner unless affirmed at a judicial hearing. Rejection of a nomination by the commissioner shall not bar the filing of a petition pursuant to section 6.

Subd. 3. The commissioner shall accept the nomination if the psychologist's report contained in the comprehensive evaluation concludes that the alleged mentally retarded person is, in fact, mentally retarded and that such person is in need of the supervision and protection of a conservator or guardian.

Sec. 4. [252A.04] COMPREHENSIVE EVALUATION. Subdivision 1. Upon receipt of a written nomination, the commissioner shall promptly order the county welfare department in which the proposed ward resides to arrange for a comprehensive evaluation of the proposed ward. The evaluation shall be conducted in a public or private hospital, school, mental health center or other suitable and appropriate facility.

Subd. 2. If, at the time the comprehensive evaluation is to be per-

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

formed, the proposed ward has been under medical care, he shall not be so under the influence or so suffer the effects of drugs, medication, or other treatment as to be hampered in the testing or evaluation process. When in the opinion of the licensed physician attending the proposed ward, the discontinuance of medication or other treatment is not in his best interest, the physician shall record a list of all drugs, medication or other treatment which the proposed ward received 48 hours immediately prior to any examination, test or interview conducted in preparation for the comprehensive evaluation.

Subd. 3. The county welfare department shall prepare and forward the comprehensive evaluation to the commissioner within 30 days of the date the commissioner orders the evaluation.

Subd. 4. The comprehensive evaluation shall be kept on file at the department of public welfare and shall be open to the inspection of the proposed ward and such other persons as may be given permission by the commissioner.

Sec. 5. [252A.05] COMMISSIONER'S PETITION FOR APPOINTMENT AS PUBLIC GUARDIAN OR PUBLIC CONSERVATOR. In every case in which he agrees to accept a nomination, the commissioner, within 15 days of such acceptance, shall petition in the county or probate court of the county of residence of the mentally retarded person for his appointment to act as conservator or guardian of the mentally retarded person.

Sec. 6. [252A.06] CONTENTS OF PETITION FOR APPOINTMENT OF PUBLIC GUARDIAN OR PUBLIC CONSERVATOR. Subdivision 1. The commissioner, a mentally retarded person or any parent, spouse or relative of a mentally retarded person may file a verified petition alleging that the appointment of a public conservator or public guardian is required. If the commissioner is bringing the petition following acceptance of his nomination as conservator or guardian, the petition shall so state and shall set forth the name and address of the nominating person.

Subd. 2. The petition shall set forth:

(a) The name and address of the petitioner, and, in the case of a petition brought by a person other than the commissioner, whether the petitioner is a parent, spouse, or relative of the proposed ward;

(b) The name and address of the proposed ward;

(c) The names and addresses of the nearest relatives and spouse, if any, of the proposed ward;

(d) The probable value and general character of the proposed ward's real and personal property and the probable amount of the proposed ward's debts; and

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

(e) The reasons and supporting facts why the conservatorship or guardianship should be awarded.

Sec. 7. [252A.07] FILING OF COMPREHENSIVE EVALUATION. Subdivision 1. When a petition is brought by the commissioner following acceptance of his nomination, a copy of the comprehensive evaluation shall be filed with the petition. If a petition is brought by a person other than the commissioner and a comprehensive evaluation has been prepared within a year of the filing of the petition, the commissioner shall forward a copy of the comprehensive evaluation to the court upon notice of the filing of said petition. If a comprehensive evaluation has not been prepared within a year of the filing of the petition, the commissioner, upon notice of the filing of said petition, shall arrange for a comprehensive evaluation to be prepared and forwarded to the court within 30 days.

Subd. 2. A copy of the comprehensive evaluation shall be made available by the court to the proposed ward, his counsel, the county attorney, the attorney general and the petitioner.

Subd. 3. No action for the appointment of a public guardian may proceed to hearing unless a comprehensive evaluation has been first filed with the court; provided, however, that such action may proceed and a guardian appointed if the director of the county welfare department responsible for conducting the comprehensive evaluation has filed an affidavit that the proposed ward refused to participate in the comprehensive evaluation and the court finds on the basis of clear and convincing evidence that the proposed ward is mentally retarded and in need of the supervision and protection of a guardian.

Sec. 8. [252A.08] NOTICE OF PETITION AND HEARING. Subdivision 1. Notice of the filing of the petition shall be promptly forwarded by the court to the proposed ward, his counsel, his spouse or nearest relative, the county attorney and attorney general and such other persons as the court directs. Notice shall be personally served upon the proposed ward by a nonuniformed person. The contents of all documents served shall be read to the proposed ward or served upon his counsel who shall, to the extent possible, explain the documents' meaning to the proposed ward. If the proposed ward is a patient or resident of any institution, hospital or other residential facility, notice by mail shall also be given to the chief executive officer or administrator thereof.

Subd. 2. When a petition has been filed by a person other than the commissioner, a copy of the petition and any other documents filed with or issued by the court shall be promptly forwarded by the court to the commissioner.

Subd. 3. The court shall fix a time and place for the hearing which shall be held not less than 10 days nor more than 20 days from the filing of the comprehensive evaluation. The court, in its discretion,

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

or upon the request of counsel and for good cause shown, may extend the time of the hearing for an additional 30 days.

Subd. 4. The proposed ward, his counsel, his spouse or nearest relative, the petitioner, the county attorney and attorney general, and such other persons as the court directs shall be given at least seven days written notice of the time and date of the hearing.

Sec. 9. [252A.09] APPOINTMENT OF COUNSEL. Subdivision 1. Upon the filing of the petition, the court shall appoint an attorney for the proposed ward, unless such counsel is provided by others.

Subd. 2. Counsel shall visit with and, to the extent possible, consult with the proposed ward prior to the hearing and shall be given adequate time to prepare therefor. Counsel shall be given the full right of subpoena and shall be supplied with a copy of all documents filed with or issued by the court.

Sec. 10. [252A.10] HEARING. Subdivision 1. The proposed ward, the petitioner, and all other persons to whom notice has been given pursuant to section 8, subdivision 4, may attend the hearing and, except for counsel, may testify. The court shall notify such persons of their right to attend the hearing and to testify.

Subd. 2. The proposed ward and the petitioner may present and cross-examine witnesses, including those participating in the preparation of the evaluation reports, and the court may in its discretion receive the testimony of any other person.

Subd. 3. The court may exclude from the hearing any person not necessary for the conduct of the proceedings except those persons to whom notice was given pursuant to subdivision 1 and any other persons requested to be present by the proposed ward.

Subd. 4. If, at the time of the hearing, the proposed ward has been under medical care, he shall have the same rights regarding limitation on the use of drugs, medication or other treatment prior to the hearing as are available under section 4, subdivision 2.

Subd. 5. Subject to the right of the proposed ward to attend the hearing, the court may permit the proposed ward to be absent from the hearing if the court determines that such attendance would not be in the proposed ward's best interest and if the person conducting the hearing shall have observed and consulted with the proposed ward prior to the hearing. In any instance in which a proposed ward has been excused from a hearing pursuant to this subdivision, the court shall make findings of fact stating the basis for such action.

Subd. 6. The hearing shall be conducted in a manner consistent with orderly procedure and in a physical setting not likely to have a harmful effect on the mental or physical health of the proposed ward.

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

The hearing may be held at the proposed ward's residence or such other suitable and appropriate place as the court may determine.

Subd. 7. In all such proceedings, the court shall have taken and preserved an accurate stenographic record or tape recording of the proceedings. The court shall not be bound by the evidence contained in the comprehensive evaluation, but shall make its determination upon the entire record. In all cases the court shall find the facts specifically, state separately its conclusions of law thereon and direct the entry of an appropriate judgment.

Subd. 8. The county attorney may appear and represent the petitioner or shall appear and represent the petitioner upon the request of the court or the petitioner. The petitioner shall be notified of his right to request that the county attorney appear. The attorney general may appear and represent the commissioner in any proceedings brought pursuant to this act.

Subd. 9. If upon the completion of the hearing and consideration of the record, the court finds that the proposed ward is not mentally retarded or is mentally retarded, but not in need of the supervision and protection of a conservator or guardian, it shall dismiss the application.

Subd. 10. If upon completion of the hearing and consideration of the record, the court finds the proposed ward is mentally retarded and in need of the supervision and protection of a conservator or guardian, it shall enter judgment specifying the powers of the conservator or guardian pursuant to section 11.

Sec. 11. [252A.11] POWERS OF GUARDIAN AND CONSERVATOR. Subdivision 1. The court may appoint the commissioner guardian if it determines that a guardian is needed to supervise and protect the retarded person through the exercise of the following powers:

(a) The power to exercise general supervisory authority over the ward. This includes choosing or changing the residence, care, habilitation, education and employment of the ward and the power to approve or withhold approval for the ward's request to sell or in any way encumber his personal and real property;

(b) The power to take possession of the personal property of the ward and liquidate or hold it for the ward's benefit as provided in Minnesota Statutes, Section 256.93;

(c) The power to permit or withhold permission for the ward to marry;

(d) The power to approve or withhold approval of any contract, except for necessities, which the ward may make or wish to make;

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

(e) The power to commence judicial action or defend against judicial action in the name of the ward;

(f) The power to consent to the ward's sterilization as provided in section 13;

(g) The power to consent to surgical operations in non-emergency cases as provided in section 13, subdivision 1;

(h) The power to consent to the adoption of a ward as provided in Minnesota Statutes, Section 259.24.

Subd. 2. The court may appoint the commissioner conservator for the mentally retarded person if it determines that a conservator is needed to supervise and protect the retarded person through the exercise of some, but not all the powers reserved for guardians in subdivision 1. The court may further restrict each individual power.

Subd. 3. Nothing in sections 1 to 21 shall give the commissioner authority to place a ward in a state institution except pursuant to Minnesota Statutes, Sections 253A.01 to 253A.21 or for outpatient services.

Subd. 4. In any case in which the ward has a personal estate beyond that which is necessary for his personal and immediate needs, the commissioner shall determine whether a guardian of the estate has been appointed for the ward. If no such guardian has been appointed, the commissioner, after consulting with the parents, spouse or nearest relative of the ward, may petition the probate court for the appointment of a private guardian or conservator of the estate of the ward.

Subd. 5. The commissioner shall exercise his supervisory authority over the ward in a manner which is least restrictive of the ward's personal freedom consistent with the need for supervision and protection.

Sec. 12. [252A.12] APPOINTMENT OF CONSERVATOR NOT A FINDING OF INCOMPETENCY. An appointment of the commissioner as conservator shall not constitute a judicial finding that the mentally retarded person is legally incompetent except for the restrictions which the conservatorship places on the conservatee. The appointment of a conservator shall not deprive the conservatee of the right to vote.

Sec. 13. [252A.13] MEDICAL TREATMENT; STERILIZATION. Subdivision 1. Except as otherwise provided in this subdivision, the commissioner shall obtain consent from the proper relatives for a surgical operation necessary to save the life, health, eyesight, hearing or limb of any ward or conservatee. If such persons cannot be found after diligent search, or in the case of an emergency, the commissioner may give such consent upon the advice of the chief medical officer of the hospital to which the ward or conservatee has been admitted. When a

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

conservatee whose right to consent to surgery has not been restricted pursuant to section 11 is admitted to a hospital for surgery, the chief medical officer shall determine if the person's medical condition is such that the person has sufficient capacity to make a responsible decision. If the person has such capacity, his consent shall be obtained before such surgery. In such cases the person's consent shall be determinative and no other consent is necessary; provided, however, that in the case of a minor, consent shall also be obtained from his parent or near relative. No person who consents to the performance of a surgical operation pursuant to the provisions of this subdivision shall be civilly or criminally liable for the performance or the manner of performing such operation. No person who acts within the scope of the authority conferred by such consent in the course of discharging his official duties shall be civilly or criminally liable for the performance of such operation, but sections 1 to 21 shall not affect any liability which he may incur as a consequence of the manner in which such operation is performed.

Subd. 2. Consent for surgery for mentally deficient persons committed or voluntarily admitted to a state hospital shall be governed by Minnesota Statutes, Section 253A.17, Subdivision 8, irrespective of whether such persons may be under the guardianship or conservatorship of the commissioner.

Subd. 3. Any conservatee whose right to consent to a sterilization has not been restricted pursuant to section 11 may be sterilized only if such conservatee consents in writing or there is a sworn acknowledgment by an interested person of a non-written consent by such conservatee. The consent must certify that the conservatee has received a full explanation from a physician or registered nurse of the nature and irreversible consequences of the sterilization operation. No conservatee who is a minor may be sterilized without the written consent of his parent or near relative.

Subd. 4. Except as otherwise provided in subdivision 3, no person committed to the guardianship or conservatorship of the commissioner may be sterilized unless the commissioner consents to such operation and, if the ward is a minor, unless consent is also obtained from the ward's parent or near relative. In every case a probate or county court shall determine if such operation is in the best interest of the ward. In making its determination the court shall require the commissioner to provide written reports from a licensed physician, a psychologist who is qualified in the diagnosis and treatment of mental retardation and a social worker who is familiar with the ward's social history and adjustment. The reports shall consider whether sterilization is in the best interest of the ward and the medical report shall specifically consider the medical risks of sterilization and whether alternative methods of contraception would be as effective in protecting the best interest of the ward. The court shall appoint an attorney to represent the ward before the court, unless such counsel is provided by others.

Sec. 14. [252A.14] COMMISSIONER AS ADVISOR. The commissioner, acting through the county welfare departments, shall seek out those mentally retarded persons who are not under state guardianship and shall advise such persons as to the availability of suitable services and assistance. The provision of advice and guidance may be made without prior appointment by a court and shall not be dependent upon a finding of incompetency. The provision of such services by the commissioner does not authorize the care, treatment, supervision or any control over any mentally retarded person.

Sec. 15. [252A.15] DUTIES OF COMMISSIONER AS PUBLIC GUARDIAN OR PUBLIC CONSERVATOR. Subdivision 1. When acting as guardian or conservator of a mentally retarded individual, the commissioner shall maintain close contact with the mentally retarded person no matter where such person is living in this state and shall permit and encourage maximum self-reliance on the part of the mentally retarded person under his protection. The commissioner shall permit and encourage involvement by the parents and/or spouse of the ward in planning and decision making on behalf of the ward.

Subd. 2. In addition to the supervisory powers vested in the commissioner by the court pursuant to section 11, the commissioner shall provide for an individualized program plan, which shall:

(a) Assure that educational services are provided to each ward who is of school age;

(b) Assure that the medical and dental needs of each ward are met;

(c) Arrange for therapeutic and habilitative services, adult education, vocational rehabilitation or other appropriate programs for any adult ward who is still in need of training;

(d) Arrange for counseling and assistance to the ward so as to maximize his potential and opportunities for social and financial independence.

Subd. 3. The commissioner may carry out the duties prescribed by this section directly through the department of public welfare or county welfare departments or may contract for services with any public or private agency or individual.

Sec. 16. [252A.16] ANNUAL REVIEW. Subdivision 1. The commissioner shall provide an annual review of the physical, mental and social adjustment and progress of every ward and conservatee. A copy of this review shall be kept on file at the department of public welfare and may be inspected by the ward or conservatee, his parents, spouse or relatives and such other persons as receive the permission of the commissioner.

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

Subd. 2. The commissioner shall annually review the legal status of each ward in light of the progress indicated in the annual review. If the commissioner determines the ward is no longer in need of guardianship or conservatorship or is capable of functioning under a less restrictive conservatorship, the commissioner shall petition the court pursuant to section 19 to restore the ward to capacity or for a modification of the court's previous order.

Sec. 17. [252A.17] EFFECT OF SUCCESSION IN OFFICE. The appointment by the court of the commissioner of public welfare as conservator or guardian shall be by the title of his office. The authority of the commissioner as conservator or guardian shall cease upon the termination of his term of office and his authority shall vest in his successor or successors in office without further court proceedings.

Sec. 18. [252A.18] PERSONS UNDER GUARDIANSHIP BY PRIOR LAW. Any interested person may nominate the commissioner as conservator or guardian or may initiate proceedings pursuant to section 6 for any person committed to the guardianship of the commissioner pursuant to any prior law. Any proceeding brought pursuant to this section shall have no retroactive effect upon the placement of a mentally deficient ward in a state institution by the commissioner of welfare unless the petition requests the court to review the need for further institutionalization.

Sec. 19. [252A.19] MODIFICATION OF CONSERVATORSHIP; RESTORATION TO LEGAL CAPACITY. Subdivision 1. The commissioner shall serve as guardian or conservator with all the powers awarded pursuant to the guardianship or conservatorship, until termination or modification thereof by the court.

Subd. 2. The commissioner, ward or any interested person may petition the appointing court or the court to which venue has been transferred for an order to remove the guardianship or to limit or expand the powers of the conservatorship or to restore the ward or conservatee to full legal capacity or to review de novo any decision made by the public guardian or public conservator for or on behalf of a ward or conservatee or for such other order as the court may deem just and equitable.

Subd. 3. Upon the filing of the petition the court shall fix the time and place for the hearing. Notice of the filing of the petition and of the hearing shall be provided in the manner set forth in section 8.

Subd. 4. The commissioner shall, at the court's request, arrange for the preparation of a comprehensive evaluation of the ward or conservatee.

Subd. 5. Upon proof of the allegations of the petition the court shall enter an order removing the guardianship or limiting or expanding the powers of the conservatorship or restoring the ward or conser-

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

vatee to full legal capacity or may enter such other order as the court may deem just and equitable.

Subd. 6. The county attorney may attend the hearing and may oppose the petition in the probate or county court and in the appellate courts if he deems it for the best interest of the public.

Subd. 7. The attorney general may appear and represent the commissioner in such proceedings. The commissioner shall support or oppose the petition if he deems such action necessary for the protection and supervision of the ward or conservatee.

Subd. 8. In all such proceedings, the conservatee or ward shall be afforded an opportunity to be represented by counsel, and if neither the conservatee or ward nor others provide counsel the court shall appoint counsel to represent the conservatee or ward.

Sec. 20. [252A.20] COSTS OF HEARINGS. Subdivision 1. In each proceeding under sections 1 to 21, the court shall allow and order paid to each witness subpoenaed the fees and mileage prescribed by law; to each physician, psychologist or social worker who assists in the preparation of the comprehensive evaluation and who is not in the employ of the county welfare department, state department of public welfare or area mental health-mental retardation board, a reasonable sum for his services and for travel; and to the ward's counsel, when appointed by the court, a reasonable sum for travel and for each day or portion thereof actually employed in court or actually consumed in preparing for the hearing. Upon such order the county auditor shall issue a warrant on the county treasurer for payment of the amount allowed.

Subd. 2. When the settlement of the ward is found to be in another county, the court shall transmit to the county auditor a statement of the expenses incurred pursuant to subdivision 1. The auditor shall transmit the statement to the auditor of the county of the ward's settlement and this claim shall be paid as other claims against that county. If the auditor to whom this claim is transmitted denies the claim, he shall transmit it, together with his objections thereto, to the commissioner, who shall determine the question of settlement and certify his findings to each auditor. If the claim is not paid within 30 days after such certification, an action may be maintained thereon in the district court of the claimant county.

Subd. 3. Whenever venue of a proceeding has been transferred under sections 1 to 21, the costs of such proceedings shall be reimbursed to the county of the ward's settlement by the state.

Sec. 21. [252A.21] GENERAL PROVISIONS. Subdivision 1. The commissioner may appeal from an order of the court entered under sections 1 to 21 to the district court in the manner prescribed by Minnesota Statutes, Sections 525.71 to 525.731, for appeals by the state.

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

Any persons, other than the commissioner, aggrieved by an order of the court entered under sections 1 to 21, may appeal to the district court in the manner prescribed by Minnesota Statutes, Sections 525.71 to 525.731.

Subd. 2. The commissioner shall establish such rules and regulations not inconsistent with the provisions of sections 1 to 21 as he may find to be necessary for the proper and efficient administration thereof. In promulgating such regulations, the commissioner shall specifically develop methods of administration under which the county welfare departments shall have sufficient authority to effectively implement the duties and responsibilities of the commissioner under sections 1 to 21, consistent with the commissioner's ultimate responsibility as public guardian or public conservator.

Subd. 3. Whenever the term "guardian" is used in sections 1 to 21, it shall include "conservator," and the term "ward" shall include "conservatee" unless another intention clearly appears from the context.

Subd. 4. Nothing in sections 1 to 21 shall impair the right of individuals to establish private guardianships or conservatorships in accordance with applicable law.

Sec. 22. EFFECTIVE DATE. Sections 1 to 21 are effective July 1, 1975.

Sec. 23. Minnesota Statutes 1974, Section 253A.02, Subdivision 5, is amended to read:

Subd. 5. "Mentally deficient person" means any person other than a mentally ill person, so mentally defective as to require treatment or supervision for his own or the public welfare: who has been diagnosed as having significantly subaverage intellectual functioning existing concurrently with demonstrated deficits in adaptive behavior who is in need of treatment or supervision. For the purpose of involuntary commitment of a person as mentally deficient it is necessary for the court to find: (a) that the person is a mentally deficient person and (b) that involuntary commitment to a residential training center or hospital is necessary for the welfare of the person or the protection of society as defined in section 253A.07, subdivision 17, clause (b).

Sec. 24. Minnesota Statutes 1974, Section 253A.02, is amended by adding a subdivision to read:

Subd. 21. "Residential training center" means a public or private residential facility which is licensed by the department of public welfare and which provides residential care and training to five or more mentally deficient individuals.

Sec. 25. Minnesota Statutes 1974, Section 253A.04, Subdivision 1,

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

is amended to read:

253A.04 EMERGENCY HOSPITALIZATION OF MENTALLY ILL AND MENTALLY DEFICIENT PERSONS. Subdivision 1. Any person may be admitted or held for emergency care and treatment in a hospital with the consent of the head of the hospital upon a written statement by any licensed physician that he has examined the person not more than 15 days prior to the person's admission, that he is of the opinion, for stated reasons, that the person is mentally ill ~~or~~, inebriate or mentally deficient and is in imminent danger of causing injury to himself or others if not immediately restrained, and that an order of the court cannot be obtained in time to prevent such anticipated injury. Such physician's statement shall be sufficient authority for a peace or health officer to transport a patient to a hospital.

Sec. 26. Minnesota Statutes 1974, Section 253A.04, Subdivision 2, is amended to read:

Subd. 2. A peace or health officer may take a person into custody and transport him to a licensed physician or hospital if such officer has reason to believe that such person is mentally ill or mentally deficient and in imminent danger of injuring himself or others if not immediately restrained. Application for admission of such person to a hospital shall be made by the peace or health officer and the application shall contain a statement given by the peace or health officer stating the circumstances under which such person was taken into custody and the reasons therefor. Such person may be admitted to a hospital for emergency care and treatment pursuant to this subdivision with the consent of the head of the hospital if a written statement is made by the medical officer on duty at the hospital that after preliminary examination the person has symptoms of a mental illness or mental deficiency and appears to be in imminent danger of harming himself or others.

A peace or health officer or a person working under such officer's supervision, may take a person who is intoxicated in public into custody and transport him to a licensed hospital, mental health center facility or a person on the staff of a state licensed or approved program equipped to treat drug dependent persons. Provided, if such person is not endangering himself or any other person or property the peace or health officer may transport the person to his home.

Application for admission of an intoxicated person to a hospital, mental health center or other state licensed or approved program equipped to treat drug dependent persons shall be made by the peace or health officer, or a person working under such officer's supervision taking such person into custody and the application shall contain a statement given by the peace or health officer stating the circumstances under which such person was taken into custody and the reasons therefor. Such person may be admitted to a program or facility specified in this provision for emergency care and treatment with the consent of the institution program director or head of the facility.

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

Sec. 27. Minnesota Statutes 1974, Section 253A.07, Subdivision 17, is amended to read:

Subd. 17. If, upon completion of the hearing and consideration of the record which shall be made pursuant to the rules of evidence, the court finds the proposed patient is:

(a) A mentally ill person, and (1) that the evidence of the proposed patient's conduct clearly shows that his customary self-control, judgment, and discretion in the conduct of his affairs and social relations is lessened to such an extent that hospitalization is necessary for his own welfare or the protection of society; that is, that the evidence of his conduct clearly shows: (i) that he has attempted to or threatened to take his own life or attempted to seriously physically harm himself or others; or (ii) that he has failed to protect himself from exploitation from others; or (iii) that he has failed to care for his own needs for food, clothing, shelter, safety or medical care; and (2) after careful consideration of reasonable alternative dispositions, including but not limited to, dismissal of petition, out-patient care, informal or voluntary hospitalization in a private or public facility, appointment of a guardian, or release before commitment as provided for in section 253A.12, and finds no suitable alternative to involuntary hospitalization, the court shall commit such patient to a public hospital or a private hospital consenting to receive him, subject to a mandatory review by the head of the hospital within 60 days from the date of the order as hereinafter provided;

(b) ~~Mentally deficient, the court shall appoint the commissioner guardian of the person of the proposed patient and commit him to the care and custody of the commissioner~~ A mentally deficient person, and (1) that the evidence clearly shows that the person is so deficient in daily living skills, self-control or the conduct of his affairs and social relations that commitment to a residential training center or hospital is necessary for his own welfare or the protection of society; that is, that the evidence clearly shows (i) that he is unable and has not cared for his own needs for food, clothing, shelter, safety or medical care or (ii) that he has failed to protect himself from exploitation from others or (iii) that he has attempted to seriously physically harm himself or others; and (2) after careful consideration of reasonable alternative dispositions, including, but not limited to, dismissal of petition, informal or voluntary placement in a residential training center or hospital, or appointment of a guardian, and finds no suitable alternative to involuntary commitment to a residential training center or hospital, the court shall commit such person to a residential training center or hospital consenting to receive him, subject to a mandatory review by the head of the facility within 60 days from the date of the order as hereinafter provided ;

(c) A mentally ill person determined to be in need of commitment in accordance with clauses (a) (1) and (2) above, and a person who is dangerous to the public, the court shall commit such patient to a pub-

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

lic hospital or a private hospital consenting to receive him, subject to a mandatory review by the head of the hospital within 60 days from the date of the order as hereinafter provided;

(d) An inebriate person, and that commitment to a hospital is necessary for the welfare of the patient or the protection of society, the court shall commit such patient to a public hospital or a private hospital consenting to receive the person, subject to a mandatory review by the head of the hospital within 60 days from the date of the order as hereinafter provided.

Sec. 28. Minnesota Statutes 1974, Section 253A.07, Subdivision 19, is amended to read:

Subd. 19. Whenever a person is committed under subdivision 17, ~~clause (a) or (c)~~; the court shall issue a warrant in duplicate, committing the patient to the custody of the head of the designated hospital or residential training center for the care of mentally ill or inebriate or mentally deficient persons, and the patient shall be transported to the institution as provided in section 253A.09.

Sec. 29. Minnesota Statutes 1974, Section 253A.07, Subdivision 21, is amended to read:

Subd. 21. A copy of the petition for commitment, a copy of the court's findings of fact and conclusions of law, a copy of the court order committing the patient, a copy of the report of the medical examiners, and a copy of the social service report shall be transmitted within 14 days to the head of the hospital or residential training center receiving such person; ~~or in the case of a mentally deficient patient, to the commissioner.~~

Sec. 30. Minnesota Statutes 1974, Section 253A.15, Subdivision 1, is amended to read:

253A.15 **DISCHARGE.** Subdivision 1. The head of a hospital shall discharge any patient admitted as mentally ill ~~or~~, inebriate or mentally deficient when certified by him to be no longer in need of institutional care and treatment, unless such patient was charged with or convicted of a criminal offense, or was found by the committing court to be dangerous to the public or to have a psychopathic personality. In the case of committed patients, other than those committed as mentally ill and dangerous to the public or as a psychopathic personality the head of the hospital may provisionally discharge any such patient; that is, discharge him from the hospital without discharging his commitment. Where such patient was charged with or convicted of a criminal offense, he shall not be discharged except upon order of a court of competent jurisdiction. In cases where the patient was charged with, or convicted of, a criminal offense the hospital shall notify the court that the patient is no longer in need of institutional care and treatment and the court shall order appropriate disposition of the patient.

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

Sec. 31. Minnesota Statutes 1974, Section 256.93, Subdivision 1, is amended to read:

256.93 COMMISSIONER OF PUBLIC WELFARE, POSSESSION OF ESTATES. Subdivision 1. **LIMITATIONS.** In any case where the guardianship of the person of any defective, illegitimate, dependent, neglected or delinquent child, has been committed to the commissioner of public welfare, and in any case where the guardianship or conservatorship of the person of any ~~feebleminded~~ mentally retarded or epileptic person has been committed to the commissioner of public welfare, the probate court having jurisdiction of such estate may on such notice *as the court may direct, authorize such commissioner to take possession of the personal property in such estate, liquidate the same, and hold the proceeds thereof in trust for such ward, to be invested, expended and accounted for as provided by sections 256.88 to 256.92.*

Sec. 32. Minnesota Statutes 1974, Section 256.93, Subdivision 2, is amended to read:

Subd. 2. **ANNUAL REPORT.** The commissioner of public welfare shall annually or at such other times as the probate court may direct file with the court an account of moneys received and disbursed by him for his respective wards and conservatees, pursuant to subdivision 1. Upon petition of the ward or conservatee or of any person interested in such estate and upon notice to the commissioner the probate court may terminate such trust and require final accounting thereof.

Sec. 33. Minnesota Statutes 1974, Section 259.24, Subdivision 1, is amended to read:

259.24 CONSENTS. Subdivision 1. **EXCEPTIONS.** No child shall be adopted without the consent of his parents and his guardian, if there be one, except in the following instances:

(a) Consent shall not be required of the parent of an illegitimate child not entitled to notice of the proceedings under either sections 259.26 or 259.261.

(b) Consent shall not be required of a parent who has abandoned the child, or of a parent who has lost custody of the child through a divorce decree, and upon whom notice has been served as required by section 259.26.

(c) Consent shall not be required of a parent whose parental rights to the child have been terminated by a juvenile court or who has lost custody of a child through a final commitment of the juvenile court or through a decree in a prior adoption proceeding.

(d) ~~Consent shall not be required of a parent who has been adjudged insane or incompetent by a court of competent jurisdiction.~~

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~

~~(e)~~-(d) If there be no parent or guardian qualified to consent to the adoption, the consent may be given by the commissioner.

~~(f)~~-(e) The commissioner or agency having authority to place a child for adoption pursuant to section 259.25, subdivision 1, shall have the exclusive right to consent to the adoption of such child.

Sec. 34. Minnesota Statutes 1974, Section 517.03, is amended to read:

517.03 MARRIAGES PROHIBITED. No marriage shall be contracted while either of the parties has a husband or wife living; nor within six months after either has been divorced from a former spouse; excepting re-intermarriage between such parties; nor within six months after either was a party to a marriage which has been adjudged a nullity, excepting intermarriage between such parties; nor between parties who are nearer than second cousins, whether of the half or whole blood, computed by the rules of the civil law; ~~nor between persons either one of whom is imbecile, feeble-minded, or insane;~~ nor between persons one of whom is a male person under 18 years of age or one of whom is a female person under the age of 16 years; provided, however, that mentally deficient persons committed to the guardianship of the commissioner of public welfare and mentally deficient persons committed to the conservatorship of the commissioner of public welfare in which the terms of the conservatorship limit the right to marry, may marry on receipt of written consent of the commissioner. The commissioner ~~may~~ shall grant such consent ~~if~~ unless it appears from his investigation that such marriage is ~~for~~ not in the best interest of the ward or ~~conservatee~~ and the public. The clerk of the district court in the county where the application for a license is made by such ward or ~~conservatee~~ shall not issue the license unless and until he has received a signed copy of the consent of the commissioner of public welfare.

Sec. 35. Minnesota Statutes 1974, Sections 253A.07, Subdivision 18; 253A.13; and 256.07 are repealed.

Approved June 2, 1975.

CHAPTER 209—H.F.No.49

[Not Coded]

An act relating to the city of Duluth and the town of Herman; authorizing the rendering of emergency service by a physician's trained mobile intensive care paramedic; granting limited immunity from civil liability for paramedics and physicians advising or instructing paramedics.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF MINNESOTA:

Changes or additions indicated by underline deletions by ~~strikeout~~